

bq78z100EVM 1- to 2-Series Li-Ion Battery Pack Manager Evaluation Module

This evaluation module (EVM) is a complete evaluation system for the bq78z100 or bq294502 battery management system. The EVM includes one bq78z100 and bq294502 circuit module and a link to Windows® based PC software. The circuit module includes one bq78z100 integrated circuit (IC), one bq294502 IC, and all other onboard components necessary to monitor and predict capacity, perform cell balancing, monitor critical parameters, protect the cells from overcharge, over-discharge, short-circuit, and over-current in 1- or 2-series cell Li-lon or Li-Polymer battery packs. The circuit module connects directly across the cells in a battery. With the EV2300 or EV2400 interface board and software, the user can read the bq78z100 data registers, program the chipset for different pack configurations, log cycling data for further evaluation, and evaluate the overall functionality of the solution under different charge and discharge conditions using HDQ communication protocol.

Contents

1	Featur	res	2
	1.1	Kit Contents	2
	1.2	Ordering Information	2
	1.3	Documentation	2
	1.4	bq78z100 and bq294502 Circuit Module Performance Specification Summary	2
2	bq78z	100EVM Quick Start Guide	3
	2.1	Items Needed for EVM Setup and Evaluation	3
	2.2	Software Installation	3
	2.3	EVM Connections Module Connections	3
3	Batter	y Management Studio	6
	3.1	Starting the Program	6
	3.2	Registers Screen	7
	3.3	Data Memory Screen	8
	3.4	Calibration Screen	8
	3.5	Authentication Screen	11
	3.6	Chemistry Selection	11
	3.7	Firmware Screen	13
	3.8	Advanced Comm I ² C Screen	14
	3.9	Watch Screen	14
	3.10	Data Graph Screen	15
	3.11	Error Screen	15
4	Circuit	t Module Physical Layouts and Bill of Materials	16
	4.1	Board Layout	16
	4.2	Bill of Materials and Schematic	19
	4.3	Testing Fuse-Blowing Circuit	22
		List of Eigurop	

List of Figures

1	bq78z100 Circuit Module Connection to Cells and System Load or Charger	4
2	Cell Connection Configuration	4
3	Registers Screen	6
4	Battery Management Studio Supported Targets	7
5	Data Memory Screen	8
6	Calibration Screen	9
6	Calibration Screen	

bq78z100EVM 1- to 2-Series Li-Ion Battery Pack Manager Evaluation Module



21

Features

7	Authentication Screen	11
8	Chemistry Screen	12
9	Firmware Screen	13
10	Advanced Comm I ² C Screen	14
11	Watch Screen	15
12	Data Graph Screen	15
13	Error Screen	15
14	Top Silk Screen	16
15	Bottom Silk Screen	16
16	Top Assembly	17
17	Bottom Assembly	17
18	Top Layer	18
19	Bottom Layer	18

1 Features

20

- Complete evaluation system for the bq78z100EVM 1- to 2-Series Battery Pack Manager Evaluation Module and bq294502 independent overvoltage protection IC
- Populated circuit module for quick setup
- Software that allows data logging for system analysis

Schematic

1.1 Kit Contents

- bq78z100 and bq294502 circuit module
- Cable to connect the EVM to an EV2300 or EV2400 Communications Interface adapter

1.2 Ordering Information

For complete ordering information, see the product page at <u>www.ti.com</u>.

Table 1. Ordering Information

EVM PART NUMBER	CHEMISTRY	CONFIGURATION	CAPACITY
bq78z100EVM	Li-Ion	1-, 2-cell	Any

1.3 Documentation

For information on the bq78z100 and bq294502 device firmware and hardware, see the following documentation:

- bq78z100 Impedance Track[™] Gas Gauge for 1-Series to 2-Series Li-Ion/Li-Polymer Battery Packs (SLUSC23)
- bq78z100 Technical Reference Manual (<u>SLUUB63</u>)
- bq2945xx Overvoltage Protection For 2-Series and 3-Series Cell Li-Ion Batteries (SLUSAJ3)
- bq294502 EVM User's Guide (<u>SLUU659</u>)

1.4 bq78z100 and bq294502 Circuit Module Performance Specification Summary

This section summarizes the performance specifications of the bq78z100 and bq294502 EVM.

SPECIFICATION	MINIMUM	TYPICAL	MAXIMUM	UNITS
Input voltage Pack+ to Pack-	3	7	25	V
Charge and discharge current	0	2	7	А

Table 2. Performance Specification Summary

2 bq78z100EVM Quick Start Guide

This section provides the step-by-step procedures required to use a new EVM and configure it for operation in a laboratory environment.

2.1 Items Needed for EVM Setup and Evaluation

- bq78z100 and bq294502 circuit module
- EV2300 or EV2400 communications interface adapter
- Cable to connect the EVM to an EV2300 or EV2400 communications interface adapter
- USB cable to connect the communications interface adapter to the computer
- Computer setup with Windows® XP, or higher, operating system
- Access to the Internet to download the Battery Management Studio software setup program
- One or two battery cells or $1-k\Omega$ resistors to configure a cell simulator
- A DC power supply that can supply 8.4 V and 2 A (constant current and constant voltage capability is desirable)

2.2 Software Installation

Find the latest software version in the bq78z100 tool folder on <u>www.ti.com</u>. Use the following steps to install the bq78z100 Battery Management Studio software:

- Download and run the Battery Management Studio setup program from the Development Tools section of the bq78z100EVM product folder on <u>www.ti.com</u>. See Section 3 for detailed information on using the tools in the Battery Management Studio.
- 2. If the Communications Interface Adapter was not previously installed, after the bqStudio installation, a TI USB DRIVER INSTALLER pops up. Click Yes for the agreement message and follow its instructions. Two drivers are associated with the EV2300 and an additional file may be required for the EV2400. Follow the instructions to install both. Do not reboot the computer, even if asked to do so.
- 3. Plug the communications interface adapter into a USB port using the USB cable. The Windows® system may show a prompt that new hardware has been found. When asked, "Can Windows connect to Windows Update to search for software?", select "No, not this time", and click Next. In the next dialog window, it indicates "This wizard helps you install software for: TI USB Firmware Updater". Select "Install the software automatically (Recommended)" and click Next. It is common for the next screen to be the Confirm File Replace screen. Click No to continue. If this screen does not appear, then go to the next step. After Windows® indicates that the installation was finished, a similar dialog window pops up to install the second driver. Proceed with the same installation preference as the first one. The second driver is TI USB bq80xx Driver.

2.3 EVM Connections Module Connections

This section covers the hardware connections for the EVM. See Figure 1.





Figure 1. bq78z100 Circuit Module Connection to Cells and System Load or Charger

• Direct connection to the cells: 1N (BAT–), 1P, 2P (BAT+)

Attach the cells to the J2 terminal block. A specific cell connection sequence is not required, although it is a good practice to start with lowest cell in the stack (cell1) and then add cell 2. The U1 and U2 devices should not get damaged by other cell connection sequences, but there is a possibility that the bq294502 could blow the fuse in a module that has one. Attaching cells starting with cell 1 should eliminate this risk.

Number	J	2 Termina	l Bloc	k Connecti	ons
of Cells	1N		1P		2P
1	\bigcirc	-cell1+	\bigcirc	short	\bigcirc
2	\bigcirc	-cell1+	\bigcirc	-cell2+	\bigcirc

Figure 2. Cell Connection Configuration

A resistor cell simulator can be used instead of battery cells. Connect a resistor between each of the contacts on the J2 connector; that is, from 1N to 1P and from 1P to 2P. If being used for a 1-series configuration no resistor is needed, simply short 1P and 2P. A power supply can provide power to the cell simulator. Set the power supply to the desired cell voltage x the number of cells and attach the ground wire to 1N and the positive wire to 2P. For example, for a 2-series configuration with a 3.6-V cell voltage, set the power supply to $2 \times 3.6 = 7.2$ V.

I²C[™] (SDA, SCL) and HDQ port

Attach the communications interface adapter cable to J3 and to the l^2C^{TM} port on the EV2300.

- **NOTE:** The bq78z100 ships with the firmware in I²C mode for faster programming of the data flash. When programming is done, the device can be switched to HDQ mode using the GO_TO HDQ command. After the device is switched to HDQ, the connecting cable on the EV2300 should be switched to the HDQ port; otherwise, the user will not be able to communicate with the device. The user can also switch back from HDQ to I²C using the GO_TO I²C command.
- System load and charger connections across PACK+ and PACK-

Attach the load or power supply to the J1 terminal block. The positive terminal of the load or power supply wire should be connected to the terminal block position labeled PACK+. The ground wire for the load or power supply should be connected to the other terminal block position labeled PACK–.

• Wake-up the device up from SHUTDOWN (WAKE)

Press the **Wake** pushbutton switch S1 to temporarily connect BAT+ to PACK+. This applies voltage to the PACK pin on the bq78z100 to power-up the regulators and start the initialization sequence.

Parameter setup

The default data flash default settings is configured for 2-series Li-lon cells. The user should change the | Data Memory | Settings | DA Configuration register to set up the number of series cells to match the physical pack configuration. This provides basic functionality to the setup. Other data flash parameters should also be updated to fine tune the gauge to the pack. See the *bq78z100 Technical Reference Manual* (SLUUB63) for help with setting the parameters.

NOTE: If using a 1-series configuration: To avoid an undervoltage safety condition, the device should be initially powered up with a 2-series configuration to allow the user to go into the | Data Memory | Settings | DA Configuration and modify the CC0 bit for 1-series configuration.

3 Battery Management Studio

3.1 Starting the Program

Run Battery Management Studio from the Start | Programs | Texas Instruments | Battery Management Studio sequence or the Battery Management Studio shortcut. As long as the device has been woken up from shutdown mode by momentarily pressing button **S1** or applying a charger voltage, the gauge will be automatically detected and the register screen will appear as seen in Figure 3. If your device contains an earlier firmware version, then auto detection of the device may not occur. If that happens, on the window that pops up as shown in Figure 4, select any bq78z100 .bqz file. This action will enable the program to get started and the user can update the firmware using the latest .srec file for the device downloadable from the product folder of the gauge at <u>www.ti.com</u>.

Action Action Control	Board	7 D	🗆 🛞 Registers 🙁 🗢 Data M	emory																			🗖 💈 Co	mmands 🖾	
VD:00:1/2 VD:00:1/2 <t< th=""><th>resh is ON - Cli Version: 1.3.42</th><th>ick to Turn OFF</th><th>Registers</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>Label</th><th>here Star</th><th>9 tLog -</th><th>⊚ 2 Scan Refres</th><th>ih Con</th><th>nmands</th><th></th></t<>	resh is ON - Cli Version: 1.3.42	ick to Turn OFF	Registers																Label	here Star	9 tLog -	⊚ 2 Scan Refres	ih Con	nmands	
Value Value <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>S DEVICE NU</td><td>IMBER</td></td<>																								S DEVICE NU	IMBER
V2200 Vicinin3.1r New Value Units Log Science New Units New New	Λ		Registers																					A 104 VEDC	1041
Version 3 Jr Version 3 Jr<		EV2300	here										11.71	1					and a					W HW_VERS	aon
DC Description Description <thdescription< th=""> <thdesc< td=""><td></td><td>Version:3.1r</td><td>Name</td><td>Van</td><td>Je L</td><td>nits I</td><td>Log Sc</td><td>an n n</td><td>vame</td><td></td><td></td><td>Value</td><td>Units</td><td>Log</td><td>Scan _</td><td>Name</td><td></td><td></td><td>Value</td><td>Units</td><td>Log</td><td>Scan -</td><td></td><td>FW_VERSI</td><td>ION</td></thdesc<></thdescription<>		Version:3.1r	Name	Van	Je L	nits I	Log Sc	an n n	vame			Value	Units	Log	Scan _	Name			Value	Units	Log	Scan -		FW_VERSI	ION
AF Bale 0 nA W W I d d Curret 0 nA W V I d d Curret 0 nA W W I d Curret 0 nA W W I d Curret 0 nA W W <td></td> <td></td> <td>Manufacturer Access</td> <td>0x00</td> <td>102 H</td> <td>iex</td> <td></td> <td>· .</td> <td>PACK pin vi</td> <td>oltage</td> <td></td> <td>5</td> <td>Wm</td> <td>M</td> <td></td> <td>Cell 2 C</td> <td>ompRes</td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>mOhr</td> <td></td> <td>M</td> <td></td> <td>💰 EW PH</td> <td>ID</td>			Manufacturer Access	0x00	102 H	iex		· .	PACK pin vi	oltage		5	Wm	M		Cell 2 C	ompRes		0	mOhr		M		💰 EW PH	ID
LC			At Rate	0		nA			Cel 1 Curre	ent		0	mA	M	M	PackGri	d		0	-		M		\$ 1W_000	
DC Understand 2.3.7 dogC V			At Rate Time To Empty	655	35 1	nin	M		Cel 2 Curre	ent		0	mA	M	M	Cel 1 G	rid		0			M		CHEM_	ID
LC Ukbage 27.2 mill	A		Temperature	23.	7 d	1gC	M		Cel 1 Powe	K.		0	cW	M	M	Cell 2 G	rid		0			M			
N/8:00 Lowerspic.nert 0 mA Ø <td></td> <td>12C</td> <td>Voltage</td> <td>737</td> <td>2</td> <td>nV</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Cell 2 Powe</td> <td>87</td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>cW</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td>StateTir</td> <td>ne</td> <td></td> <td>170</td> <td>s</td> <td>V</td> <td>M</td> <td></td> <td>SHUTDO</td> <td>WN</td>		12C	Voltage	737	2	nV			Cell 2 Powe	87		0	cW	2		StateTir	ne		170	s	V	M		SHUTDO	WN
Investor Image: Carefit Image: Carefi	•		Current	0		nA	M		Power			0	cW	M	M	Cel 1D	OD0		15908	-		M		* CC 055	
hyperiod between plane 0 c/c/c/c 0 c/c/c 0 m/h W V			Average Current	0		nA	M 1		Int Temper	ature		22.3	degC	M	M	E Cell 2D	OD0		6352	-	×	M		 CC_OFFS 	361
WZ 200 100_004 2.37 dqC Out W W W W W Cold Temporative Title Response 2.7. dqC W <td></td> <td></td> <td>Average Power</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td>:W</td> <td>M 1</td> <td></td> <td>TS1 Tempe</td> <td>rature</td> <td></td> <td>23.7</td> <td>degC</td> <td>M</td> <td>M</td> <td>DOD0 P</td> <td>assed Q</td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>mAh</td> <td>¥</td> <td>M</td> <td></td> <td>GAUGE *</td> <td>FN</td>			Average Power	0		:W	M 1		TS1 Tempe	rature		23.7	degC	M	M	DOD0 P	assed Q		0	mAh	¥	M		GAUGE *	FN
Wateroo Implementary Causachy 0 mAh V Implementary 0 mAh V V Implem			Relative State of Charge	10	0	%			Cell Temper	rature		23.7	degC	¥	M	DOD0 P	assed E		0	cWh	4	M			
100.011 Active 100.011 Active 0 mAk W Iffeld Org Iffeld Org 0 mAk <	5	ba78+100	Remaining Capacity	0	n	Ah			Flt Rem Q			-2496	mAH	×	M	DOD0 T	me		0	h/16	4	M		FET_EN	N
Add: 0AA 3.3 deg C Add: 0AA 3.3 deg C 3.3 de		1100 0 01	Full charge Capacity	0	n	tAh			Fit Rem E			-1498	cWH	¥	M	Cell 1D	ODEOC		1200	-	¥	M			
23.7 degC	\sim .	Addr: 0xAA	Average Time to Empty	655	35 1	nin			Fit Full Chg	Q		0	mAH	¥	M	Cell 2D	ODEOC		1200	-	¥	M		 LIFE TIME. 	_EN
Bis depty Current 0 m M		23.7 degC	Average Time to Full	655	35 1	nin		·	Fit Full Chg	E		0	CWH	M	M	Cell 1 Q	Max		4400	mAh	M	M		A LT RESE	FT
■ Standy Time 5 Bray 6333 m M </td <td>•</td> <td></td> <td>Standby Current</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td>nA</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>True Rem C</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td>-2496</td> <td>mAh</td> <td>M</td> <td>M</td> <td>Cell 2 Q</td> <td>Max</td> <td></td> <td>4400</td> <td>mAh</td> <td></td> <td>M</td> <td></td> <td>+ cr_ncor</td> <td></td>	•		Standby Current	0		nA			True Rem C	2		-2496	mAh	M	M	Cell 2 Q	Max		4400	mAh		M		+ cr_ncor	
Max Lod Gurrent -550 mA V Instal G 1384 mAh V Instal G 1384 mAh V Instal G 1384 mAh V Instal G 1387 MAh V Instal G 1000 0 V V Instal G 1000 0 V Instal G 1000 0 mA V Instal G 1000 0 mAh MAh MAh MAh MAh MAh MAh MAh			Standby Time to Empty	655	35 1	nin			True Rem E			-1498	cWh	M	M	Cel 1 Q	Max DOD0		0	-		M		LT_FLUS	SH
Mark Lods The field Deg (correct be) 0 m P P Dim P			Max Load Current	-50	0 1	nA	M		Initial Q			1384	mAh	M		Cell 2 Q	Max DOD0		0			M			
Image: Control 1 0 mA V V Image: Control 1 0 mA V V Image: Control 1 0 mA V Image: Control 1 0 P P 1 Ma No V Image: Control 1 0 P P 1 Ma V Image: Control 1 Ma			Max Load Time to Empty	0		nin	MI		Initial E			1077	cWh	M	M	QMax P	assed Q		0	mAH		M		PF_EN	•
Description O M			Charging Current	0		nA			True Full Cr	ng Q		0	mAh	M	M	QMax T	ime		0	h/16	M	M		# DE CLE	A P
Bit Registers State Nume Value Log Son Bit 3 Bit 4 Bit 3 Bit 4 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 4 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 4 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 4 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 3 Bit 4 Bit 3	mV		Charging Voltage	0		πV	M 1		True Full C	hg E		0	cWh	M	¥ -	Temp k			1.0		M	M -		 Figetb 	MIN
Nome Yahe Log Sam Bits B	0%		Bit Registers																				Log	Panel	
• Operation State A • Operation • Operation State A • Operation • Operation State A • Operation • Operatio			Name	Value	Log	Scan	Bit15	Bit14	Bit13	Bit12	Bit11	Bit10	Bit9	Bit8	Bit7	Bit6	Bit5	Bit4	Bit3	Bit2	Bit1	Bit0	Tra	insaction Log	
Develop Operator Operator Status Doto P< P< P P <t< td=""><td>100</td><td></td><td>Battery Statur</td><td>0×0000</td><td>R</td><td>R</td><td>000</td><td>TCA</td><td>PSVD</td><td>OTA</td><td>TDA</td><td>DSVD</td><td>PCA.</td><td>DTA</td><td>INIT</td><td>DSG</td><td>EC.</td><td>ED</td><td>EC3</td><td>EC2</td><td>EC1</td><td>ECO</td><td>Na</td><td>me Cmd</td><td>Resi</td></t<>	100		Battery Statur	0×0000	R	R	000	TCA	PSVD	OTA	TDA	DSVD	PCA.	DTA	INIT	DSG	EC.	ED	EC3	EC2	EC1	ECO	Na	me Cmd	Resi
S00 S00 Generator Status B DOLOG P P R500 R560	100		Conception Status A	0x6100	R	2	SLEEP	VCHG	VDSG	DE	20	SDV	SEC 1	SECO	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	OHG	DSG	PSVD			
1000 1000 <th< td=""><td>500 💫</td><td></td><td>Coveration Status R</td><td>0x0000</td><td>R</td><td>2</td><td>PSVD</td><td>PSVD</td><td>EMSHUT</td><td>CB</td><td>SIRCO</td><td>SIRAD</td><td>SMBLCAL</td><td>INIT</td><td>SIFEDM</td><td>N</td><td>CALO</td><td>CAL</td><td>ALITO</td><td>ALTH</td><td>PSVD</td><td>SDM</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	500 💫		Coveration Status R	0x0000	R	2	PSVD	PSVD	EMSHUT	CB	SIRCO	SIRAD	SMBLCAL	INIT	SIFEDM	N	CALO	CAL	ALITO	ALTH	PSVD	SDM			
1900- 2000 000- 2000 000- 2000 <	1000		Terro Bange	0x08	P		RSVD	RSVD	RSVD	RSVD	RSVD	RSVD	RSVD	RSVD	RSVD	OT	HT	STH	RT	STI	IT	UT			
2000 2000 P </td <td>1500-</td> <td></td> <td>E Charoing Status</td> <td>0x0004</td> <td>R</td> <td>2</td> <td>PSVD</td> <td>PSVD</td> <td>PSVD</td> <td>PSVD</td> <td>PSVD</td> <td>PSVD</td> <td>PSVD</td> <td>PSVD</td> <td>VCT</td> <td>MCHG</td> <td>91</td> <td>TN</td> <td>HV</td> <td>MV</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>DV DV</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	1500-		E Charoing Status	0x0004	R	2	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	VCT	MCHG	91	TN	HV	MV	1.0	DV DV			
Image: constraint of state Constraint of stat	2000 -7		Gaunion Status	0x50	R	2	1010	TOTO	Koro	1010	TOTO	1070	1010	1010	CE	DSG	FDV	BAL EN	TC	TD	EC	FD			
■ May May May May Description P P EA,AB S500 S500<	1		T Status	0x0004	R	2	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	OCVER	LDMD	PX	OMAX	VDO	NSEM	RSVD	SIROM	OEN	WOK	PDIS	PSVD	PEST			
Image: Setty Mark Arel 0x000 P P RS00 RS			Manufacturing Status	0x0000	R	R	CALE	RSVD	RSVD	RSVD	RSVD	PSVD	RSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PE EN	LE EN	EET EN	GALIG	DSG T	CHG T	RSVD			
Stefly (State A+0 Dx000 P P R500			Cafaty Alert A 4R	0×0000			DEVID	PEND	OTD	OTC	PCVD	DEVD	DEVID	PEVD	PEND	PEND	DEVD	OCD	PEVD	000	COV	CIN			
Stern Marc 4-0 Ducktor PF PF Ratio Ratio <thratio< th=""> Ratio <thratio< th=""></thratio<></thratio<>			Gafety Status A+P	0x0000		2	POID	PCVD	OTD	OTC	PSVD	ASCD	PEND	ASCC	PEND	AOLD	PSVD	000	PEVD	000	COV	CUN			
□ Setty Sett C+D 0.000 F F F Solar Sol			Safety Alert C+D	0x0000		2	POID	PCVD	PEVD	POID	ITTD	100	PCVD	PSVD	PEVD	PEND	CTCS	PSVD	PTOS	PSVD	PEVD	PEVD			
PF Altri Ard Doctor PF PK Rolo			Safety Status C+D	0x0000		2	PSID	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	1000	ITC	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	CTO	PSVD	RTO	PSVD	PSVD			
□ PF Status A+B 0.0000 PF PF RS10 RS10 RS10 RS10 RS10 RS10 RS10 RS10			E DE Alert A 48	0×0000	R	2	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	SOV	PSVD			
			E DE Statur Auß	0×0000	R	2	D SHO	DC-D	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	PSVD	SOV	PSVD			
			C C C C C C C	0.0000			D SHD	nevo	DEVD	0010	D CUD	NO10	DEVD	IEC	DEVD	DEVD	DS/D	DEVD	DEVD	DEUD	DEVD	DEVID			
			El Status	0.0000			Rovo	Kavb	Rovo	RSID	Ravo	Dr.u	KSID	arc	Kavb	KSID	Ravb	ROVE	ETELD	TTEN	CEL	CEO			

Figure 3. Registers Screen





Figure 4. Battery Management Studio Supported Targets

3.2 **Registers Screen**

Texas

www.ti.com

STRUMENTS

The Registers section contains parameters used to monitor gauging. The Bit Registers section provides bit level picture of status and fault registers. A green flag indicates that the bit is 0 (low state) and a red flag indicates that the bit is 1 (high state). A greyed out bit indicated that bit is reserved. Data begins to appear once the Refresh (single-time scan) button is selected, or it scans continuously if the Scan button is selected. The continuous scanning period can be set via the | Windows |preferences| register selections.

The battery management Studio program provides a logging function which logs all the values of the parameters in the Register section if running the program in "Show basic view mode". In order to selectively choose the parameters of Register section that are scanned and logged, the user needs to set Battery Management Studio to "Show Advanced view mode". This mode can be set via | Windows preferences All Global Settings Show Advanced Views. Uncheck the fields that are not needed to be scanned or logged. To enable logging, select the Log button; this causes the Scan button to be selected. When logging is stopped, the **Scan** button is still selected and has to be manually deselected.



Battery Management Studio

3.3 Data Memory Screen

The bq78z100 data flash comes configured per the default settings detailed in the bq78z100 TRM. Ensure that the settings are correctly changed to match the pack and application for the solution being evaluated. For ease of configuration, a text file with a gg.csv extension can be extracted, modified and imported back on the device. Use the export and import buttons as seen in Figure 5 to export and import gg.csv files. The auto export button enables gg files to be exported periodically at intervals. This is useful when debugging issues with the gauge. A write all command is necessary if a gg.csv file is imported to ensure that all the changes made on the gg.csv file are effected on the gauge. The read all command is used to read back all of the data written to the gauge so that the changes made can be verified. The filter/search field enables the user to search for a particular parameter in the data memory content.

NOTE: Do not make modifications to the gg.csv file using Microsoft Excel® as it makes changes to file, which bqStudio rejects. Make sure to use a text editor like notepad or similar to edit a gg.csv file.

ata Memory		Filter/Search	
ata wemory		Auto Ex	port Export Import Write_All Read A
ad/Write Data Memory Conten	is		
Calibration	Name	Value	Unit
	⊿ Voltage		
Settings	Cell Gain	12101	-
Protections	Pack Gain	49669	-
Protections	BAT Gain	48936	-
Permanent Fail	⊿ Current		
	CC Gain	1.036	mOhm
Advanced Charge Algorithm	Capacity Gain	1.036	mOhm
Gas Gauging	⊿ Current Offset		
Gas Gauging	CC Offset	0	-
Power	Coulomb Counter Offset Samples	64	-
	Board Offset	0	-
PF Status	CC Auto Config	07	hex
Sustem Data	CC Auto Offset	17	-
System Data			
I2C Configuration	Internal Temp Offset	0	degC
-	External1 Temp Offset	0	degC
Lifetimes	External2 Temp Offset	0	degC
Pa Tabla			
Ra Table	Int Gain	-12143	-
	Int base offset	6232	-
	Int Minimum AD	0	-
	Int Maximum Temp	6232	0.1degK
	Cell Temperature Model		
	Coeff a1	-11130	-
	Coeff a2	19142	-
	Coeff a3	-19262	-
	Coeff a4	28203	-
	Coeff a5	892	-
	Cooff b1	270	

Figure 5. Data Memory Screen

3.4 Calibration Screen

8

The voltages, temperatures, and currents should be calibrated to provide good gauging performance. Press the **Calibration** button while in the "Show Advanced view mode" to select the **Advanced Calibration** window. See Figure 6. If in the "Show basic view mode", the basic calibration window shows when the **Calibration** button is clicked. The **Advanced Calibration** window enables the internal temperature sensor as well as the external thermistor to be calibrated.



🔉 Registers 🔐 Authentication View 🔝 Calibration 🛛		- E)
Advanced Calibration		
Perform Calibration		
Select the types of calibration to perform and enter the actual input	It parameters in the corresponding boxes	
Current Calibration	Temperature calibration	
Applied Current	Sensor Applied temperature Calibrate	
mA 🔲 Calibrate Current	Internal deg C	
	External 1 deg C	
Voltage calibration		
Applied Cell I voltage	Calibrate Gas Gauge	
mV 🛄 Calibrate Voltage		
Applied Battery Voltage		
mV 🔲 Calibrate Battery Voltage		
Applied Pack voltage		
mV 🔲 Calibrate Pack Voltage		

Figure 6. Calibration Screen

3.4.1 Voltage Calibration

- Measure the voltage from Cell 1 to 1N and enter this value in the *Applied Cell 1 Voltage* field and select the **Calibrate Voltage** box.
- Measure the voltage from Bat+ (2P) to Bat- (2N) and enter this value in the Applied Battery Voltage field and select the Calibrate Battery Voltage box.
- Measure the voltage from Pack+ to Pack- and enter this value in the *Applied Pack Voltage* field and select the **Calibrate Pack Voltage** box. If the voltage is not present, then turn the charge and discharge FETs on by entering a 0x22 command in the Manufacturer Access register on the **Register** screen.
- Press the Calibrate Gas Gauge button to calibrate the voltage measurement system.
- Deselect the **Calibrate Voltage** boxes after voltage calibration has completed.

3.4.2 Temperature Calibration

- Enter the room temperature in each of the *Applied Temperature* fields and select the **Calibrate** box for each thermistor to be calibrated. The temperature values must be entered in degrees Celsius.
- Press the **Calibrate Gas Gauge** button to calibrate the temperature measurement system.
- · Deselect the Calibrate boxes after temperature calibration has completed.



Battery Management Studio

3.4.3 Current Calibration

The Board Offset calibration option is not offered in Battery Management Studio, because it is not required when using the bq78z100EVM. The Board Offset calibration option is available in bqProduction.

- Connect and measure a 2-A current source from 1N (–) and Pack– to calibrate without using the FETs. (TI does not recommend calibration using the FETs.)
- Enter –2000 in the Applied Current field and select the Calibrate Current box.
- Press the Calibrate Gas Gauge button to calibrate.
- Deselect the Calibrate Current box after current calibration has completed.



3.5 Authentication Screen

The bq78z100 supports SHA-1 HMAC authentication with the host system. The authentication screen of bqStudio allows for the SHA-1 calculator to be tested, perform gauge authentication by the host and change the gauge authentication key.

thentication thenticate Device data is displayed in hexaded HA-1 Calculator Key: 0123456789 Challenge: E3A9AC2828 Digest: Sauge Authentication by He Key: 012345	cimal with most significant digit first. 9ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210 BASF63EDF904EA561CCA38EBDF26AE3 Iost 56789ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210	Show Digest		
thenticate Device data is displayed in hexadec iHA-1 Calculator Key: 0123456789 Challenge: E3A9AC2828 Digest: Sauge Authentication by He Key: 012345	cimal with most significant digit first. 9ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210 BASF63EDF904EA561CCA38EBDF26AE3 Iost 56789ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210	Show Digest		
data is displayed in hexadec iHA-1 Calculator Key: 0123456789 Challenge: E3A9AC2828 Digest: Gauge Authentication by He Key: 012345	cimal with most significant digit first. 9ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210 BASF63EDF904EA561CCA38EBDF26AE3 lost 56789ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210	Show Digest		
HA-1 Calculator Key: 0123456789 Challenge: E3A9AC2828 Digest: Gauge Authentication by He Key: 012345	9ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210 BASF63EDF904EA561CCA38EBDF26AE3 Iost 56789ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210	Show Digest		
Key: 0123456789 Challenge: E3A9AC2828 Digest: Challenge Authentication by He Key: 012345	9ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210 BASF63EDF904EA561CCA38EBDF26AE3 lost 56789ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210	Show Digest		
Challenge: E3A9AC2828 Digest: Sauge Authentication by He Key: 012345	BASF63EDF904EA561CCA38EBDF26AE3 lost 56789ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210	🎻 Load Default Key		
Digest: auge Authentication by H Key: 012345	lost 56789ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210	🎸 Load Default Key		
auge Authentication by He Key: 012345	lost 56789ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210	🥑 Load Default Key		
Key: 012345	56789ABCDEFFEDCBA9876543210	🥑 Load Default Key		
		Load Gauge Key		
		C coud oudge key		
Challenge: 000000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	💭 Generate Random Challenge		
xpected Digest: 2FA270	7CEB5B616484620FE32217C29B0A8E3CF3F0	🐺 Authenticate Gauge		
Gauge Digest:				
ango Gaugo Authonticati	ion Kov			
Naukan 012245	5 6 7 8 0 A B C D F F F F F F A 0 8 7 65 4 2 3 1 0	Channe Vari		
New Key: 012545	507 65ABCDEFFEIX BASS 70545210	Change Key		
Challenge: 000000				
xpected Digest: 2FA270	CEB3B616484620FE3221/C29B0A8E3CF3F0			
Gauge Digest:				

Figure 7. Authentication Screen

3.6 Chemistry Selection

The chemistry file contains parameters that the simulations use to model the cell and its operating profile. It is critical to program a Chemistry ID that matches the cell into the device. Some of these parameters can be viewed in the Data Flash section of the Battery Management Studio.

Press the **Chemistry** button to select the **Chemistry** window.

- The table can be sorted by clicking the desired column. For example: Click the *Chemistry ID* column header.
- Select the ChemID that matches your cell from the table (see Figure 8).
- Press Update Chemistry from Database to update the chemistry in the device.

Battery Management Studio

www.ti.com

Chemistry Programming				
Program Battery Chemistry				
Most Li-ion cells use LiCoO2 cathode and gra This tool allows the fuel gauge to be set up fo Use this tool to load settings for any alternate Note : Right Click on the selected chemistr	aphitized carbon anode, which is supported by the default firmy or various alternate battery chemistries. e chemistry if your cell manufacturer indicates that their cells us y to apply it to individual cells. The menu appears only if th	vare in the Impedan e a different chemist e f/w supports indir	:e track fuel gauges. ry than LiCoO2 cathode and graphite anode. ridual Cell chemistries.	
Manufacturer	Model	Chemistry ID	Description	*
A&TB	LGR18650OU	0100	LiCoO2/graphitized carbon (default)	
3 A01	ALPBA002 (3430mAh)	0207	NiCoMn/carbon 2	
A123	APR18650M1 (1100 mAh)	0404	LiFePO4/carbon	
3 A123	26650M1B (2500mAh)	0434	LiFePO4/carbon	
A123	ANR26650M1-B (2500mAh)	0440	LiFePO4/carbon	
A123	ANR26650M1-B Consult TI before use (2500	0453	LiFePO4/carbon	
🔝 A123 Systems	26650A	0400	LiFePO4/carbon	
AA Portable Power	LFP-18650-1500 (1500 mAh)	0439	LiFePO4/carbon	
AAPortable	26650 (3300mAh)	0451	LiFePO4/carbon	
AAPortable	8790160 (10000mAh)	0456	LiFePO4/carbon	
🔜 AEenergy	AE1004765 (3500mAh)	0131	LiCoO2/carbon 4	
AEenergy	AE583696PM1HR (2150 mAh)	0222	PSS, LiNiO2 with Co, Mn doping	
AET	TP2000-1SPL (2000mAh)	0190	LiCoO2/carbon 11	
3 AGM	INR34600K2 (7500mAh)	0210	NiCoMn/carbon	
S ALE	045062 (2300 mAh)	1254	LiNiCoMnO2/SGenNo1, 4.2V	
Alees	26700FE (3300mAh)	0411	LiFePO4/carbon	
🕄 Alees	A2770102 (13000mAh)	0412	LiFePO4/carbon	
🔝 Amita	LPC 776285M	0204	NiCoMn/carbon	
🕄 Amita	LPC5099130L (5120 mAh)	0304	NiCoMn/carbon, 4.2V	
🕄 Amita	LPC776825I (2700 mAh)	0304	NiCoMn/carbon, 4.2V	
3 ATL	604396	0100	LiCoO2/graphitized carbon (default)	
S ATL	laminate 554490	0103	LiCoO2/carbon 2	
3 ATL	604396 (M1-V4 / Obsolete)	0105	LiCoO2/carbon 3	
3 ATL	laminate 606168 (M42-V2)	0105	LiCoO2/carbon 3	
3 ATL	3558120 (2780 mAh)	0107	LiCoO2/carbon 5	
3 ATL	454259	0107	LiCoO2/carbon 5	
3 ATL	466371 - K36 (2315 mAh)	0107	LiCoO2/carbon 5	
and ATL	467665 (2548 mAh)	0107	LiCoO2/carbon 5	
3 ATL	laminate 554490	0110	LiCoO2/carbon 2	
3 ATL	458460 (2730 mAh)	0112	LiCoO2/carbon 6	
ATL	506971 (2960mAh)	0113	Mixed Co/Ni/Mn cathode	+

Update Chemistry from Database Update Chemistry from External File...

Chemistry Version : 369

Figure 8. Chemistry Screen

3.7 Firmware Screen

Press the **Firmware** button to select the **Firmware Update** window. This window allows the user to export and import the device firmware.

Battery Management Studio

- 81

3.7.1 **Programming the Flash Memory**

The upper section of the Firmware screen is used to initialize the device by loading the default .srec into the flash memory (see Figure 9).

- Search for the .srec file using the **Browse** button.
- Select the **Execute after programming** box to automatically return the device to NORMAL mode after programming has completed.
- Press the **Program** button and wait for the download to complete.

3.7.2 Exporting the Flash Memory

🗥 Destinators (🖓 Acathematical View (🗖 Calibration (🧃 Chemister (🖷

The lower section of the Firmware screen is used to export all of the flash memory from the device (see Figure 9).

- Press the **Browse** button and enter an .srec filename.
- Press the *Read Srec* to save the flash memory contents to the file. Wait for the download to complete.

Firmware Update		
Firmware Update		
F/W Programming		
Program	C:\Users\a0273591\Documents\BMS\bq78z100\bq78z100_v0_01_build_02.srec	Browse
Execute after program	ming	Execute
Read Srec from device	C:\Users\a0273591\Documents\BMS\bq78:100\PRG_V04222S0(Second golden pack with keys but unseal)_8MAY5,15_cc_auto_config03.srec	Browse

Figure 9. Firmware Screen



3.8 Advanced Comm ^PC Screen

Press the **Advanced Comm I2C** button to select the **Advanced Comm I2C** window. This tool provides access to parameters using I²C and Manufacturing Access commands. See Figure 10. The transaction log screen shows the history of sent commands.

NOTE:	I ² C commands are sent in Little	Endian format.
-------	--	----------------

Advanced Comm 12c Clear Log Seet ZD Materia Control Panel Byte Read/Wite Byte Read/Wite Balance Start Register (Heig) Balance Bytes to Wite (Heig) 10.0 Numble of Bytes to Read (Decima) 4 Read Transaction Log Read Transaction Log Read 2015-00-1709-1554 241 Wite as a Be 2 06 00 10 10 2 2015-00-1709-1554 241 Wite as a Be 2 2 100	Advanced C	onim 23				
Cluster Costol Pael Byte food/Wite Start Register (Heig) Byte to Wite (Heig) 2100 Transction Log Transction Log 2015-09-1708/JS7835 Ref 2015-09-1708/JS7835 Ref Number of Bytes to Radi (Loging) Register 2015-09-1708/JS7835 Ref All See 2015-09-1708/JS7841 Wr as 3e 2 Construction Image: See See See See See See See See See S	dvanced Comm I2C	2				Clear Log Save Log
Byte Read/Wates Image: Construction of the con	C Master Control Panel					
LC Address 01eo a Start Register (Hei) 3e Bytes to Write (Heig) 1.00 Number of Bytes Read (Decima) • Tansactionag • Tansactionag • Dis-0-017 081547 439 Wr asa 3e 2 0600 Dis-0-017 081547 439 Wr asa 3e 2 0600 Dis-0-017 081547 439 Wr asa 3e 2 100 Dis-0-017 081547 44 Wr asa 3e 4 100 100 Dis-017 081547 44 Wr asa 3e 2 100 100 Dis-017 081547 44 Wr asa 3e 2 100 100 Dis-017 081547 44 Ha Ha Ha	Byte Read/Write					
Surt Register (Hei) 2 Bytes to Write (Hei) 2 Discourse of Bytes to Read (Deam) - Terrestion - Terrestion Correstion -	I2C Addr	ess (Hex)	aa			
Anit Regimes vise A Bytes to Write (Heb) 21 00 Image: Set to Read (Decima) 4 Transcale Read Transcale Joint Set to Read (Decima) 4 Image: Set to Read (Decima) 4	Start Peoir	ter (Hev)	30			
Byte to White (He), 21 00 Voice Voice Number of Bytes to Read (Decimal) Transaction Log Transaction Log	Start Regis	iter (Flex)	56			
Image: I	Bytes to Wi	rite (Hex)	21 00			* Write
Transaction Log Transfam R/Wr Address Registr Log Dot D015-00-1705/147859 Wr as 3e 4 66001012 D015-00-1705/147855 Rd as 3e 2 100 D015-09-1709/15/4341 Wr as 3e 100 100 D015-09-1709/15/4341 Wr as 3e 100 100 100 D015-09-1709/15/4341 Wr As Fa 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 <t< td=""><td>Number of Bytes to Read (</td><td>Decimal)</td><td>4</td><td></td><td></td><td>Read</td></t<>	Number of Bytes to Read (Decimal)	4			Read
TimeStamp RidW Adves Register Lend Data 2015-097.0515/47 W a 3e 2 0600112 2015-097.0515/47 W a 2 05001012 2015-097.0515/47 W a 2 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	Transaction Log					
2015-09-17 0915×7 439 Wr aa 3e 2 06 00 2015-09-17 0915×7 433 Wr aa 3e 2 0 00 10 12 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 100 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 100 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 100 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 100 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 100 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 100 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 100 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 100 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 100 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa 3e 2 3e 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa 3e 3e 3e 2015-09-17 0915×5 341 Wr aa aa	TimeStamp	Rd/Wr	Address	Register	Length	Data
2015-09-17 091554 341 Rd aa 3e 2 2 2 2015-09-17 091554 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 2 2015-09-17 091554 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 2 2015-09-17 091554 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 2 2015-09-17 091554 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 2 2015-09-17 091554 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 2 2015-09-17 091554 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2 2 2015-09-17 091554 341 Wr aa 1 1 1 1 2015-09-17 091554 341 Wr aa 1 1 1 1 2015-09-17 091554 341 Wr 1 1 1 1 1 2015-09-17 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2015-09-17 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2015-09-17 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2015-09-17 1 1 1 1 1 1 2015-09-17 1 1 </td <td>2015-09-17 09:15:47 459</td> <td>Wr</td> <td>aa</td> <td>3e</td> <td>2</td> <td>06 00</td>	2015-09-17 09:15:47 459	Wr	aa	3e	2	06 00
2015-09-17 09:15:54 341 Wr aa 3e 2 2100 2015-09-17 09:15:54 341 Wr a a a 2015 a a a a 2016 a a a a 2017 a a a a 2018 a a a a 2018 a a a a 2019 a a a 2019 a a a 2019 a a 2019 a a 2019 a a 2019 a a <	2015-09-17 09:15:47 835	Rd	aa	3e	4	06 00 10 12
	2015-09-17 09:15:54 341	Wr	aa	3e	2	21 00

Figure 10. Advanced Comm I²C Screen

Examples:

Reading an I²C Command.

- Read chemical ID (0x 0006).
 - Write to mac address 3e Command 06 00 (see Figure 10).
 - Read 4 bytes.
 - The result returned is 10 12, which is little endian for chem id 1210.

Sending a MAC Gauging() to enable IT via ManufacturerAccess().

- With Impedance Track[™] disabled, send *Gauging()* (0x0021) to *ManufacturerAccess()*.
 - Write to mac address 3e command 21 00 (see Figure 10).

3.9 Watch Screen

This enables monitoring of specific registers and data memory items at user specified time intervals. By clicking the add register or add data memory item, these will be added to the table of values to be tracked.

TEXAS INSTRUMENTS

www.ti.com

Battery Management Studio

Wheth 92 ED Error	
watch a to chois	
	Add Register 🔻 🌄 Add Data Memory Item 🔻 📼 Remove 👻 🕨 🛵 🖉 2000 👻

Figure 11. Watch Screen

3.10 Data Graph Screen

This enables specified registers and data memory items to be plotted in a graph real time based on a specific time interval chosen as shown in Figure 12.

🔇 Regis	sters 🚰 Authentication View 📖 Calibration 🔒 Chemistry 🔣 Firmware 🚾 Data Graph 🛛	8
		💠 Add Register 🔻 📫 Add DF Item 💌 📼 Remove 💌 🕨 2000 💌
**	☆ ≌ ≡ + ≑ ≪ ≪ ∞ ∞	
	D	ata Graph
100		
90		
80		
70		
60		
e 1		
Valu 50		
40		
1		
30		
20		
10		
10		
0) 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 28 30 32 34 36 38 40 42 44	5 48 50 52 54 56 58 60 62 64 66 68 70 72 74 76 78 80 82 84 86 88 00 92 04 96 98 100
		Time (sec)



3.11 Error Screen

This keeps track of any error that may occur with bqStudio during usage.

🕊 Watch 🔛 Errors 🛛	🖉 🛃 📄 🖾 🕅 [Filter/All 💌 🖓 🗖						
Search:							
Message	View	Operation	TimeStamp				

Figure 13. Error Screen

bq78z100EVM 1- to 2-Series Li-Ion Battery Pack Manager Evaluation Module 15



4 Circuit Module Physical Layouts and Bill of Materials

This section contains the printed-circuit board (PCB) layout, bill of materials, and assembly drawings for the bq78z100/bq294502 circuit modules.

4.1 Board Layout

This section shows the dimensions, PCB layers (see Figure 14 through Figure 19), and assembly drawing for the bq78z100 modules.



Figure 14. Top Silk Screen



Figure 15. Bottom Silk Screen





Figure 16. Top Assembly



Figure 17. Bottom Assembly









Figure 19. Bottom Layer



4.2 Bill of Materials and Schematic

Designator	Quantity	Value	Description	Package Reference	PartNumber	Manufacturer
C1, C2, C3, C5	4	0.1 µF	Capacitor, Ceramic, 50 V, X7R, 10%	0603	CL10B104KB8SFNC	Samsung Electromechanics
C4, C6, C7, C8, C10, C13	6	0.1 µF	Capacitor, Ceramic Chip, 16 V, X7R, 10%	0402	CL05B104KO5NNNC	Samsung Electromechanics
C9	1	1 µF	Capacitor, Ceramic Chip, 16 V, X5R, 10%	0402	CL05A105KO5NNNC	Samsung Electromechanics
C11	1	2.2 µF	Capacitor, Ceramic Chip, 16 V, X5R, 20%	0402	C1005X5R1C225M050 BC	TDK Corporation
D1	1	BAS16-7-F	Diode, Ultrafast, 75V, 0.3A, SOT-23	SOT-23	BAS16-7-F	Diodes Inc.
D2, D3	2	MM3Z5V6C	Diode, Zener, 5.6V, 200 mW	SOD323	MM3Z5V6C	Fairchild
J1, J2	2	ED555/3DS	Terminal Block, 3-pin, 6-A, 3.5 mm	0.41 x 0.25 inch	ED555/3DS	OST
J3	1		Header (friction lock), 100 mil, 4x1, R/A, TH	4x1 R/A Header	22-05-3041	Molex
P1, P2, P3	3	PEC02SAAN	Header, male 2-Pin, 100-mil spacing	0.100 x 2	PEC02SAAN	Sullins
Q1	1	SI1414DH-T1-GE3	MOSFET, Nch, 30 V, 4 A, 46 mΩ	SC-70	SI1414DH-T1-GE3	Vishay
Q2, Q3	2	25 V	MOSFET, N-CH, 25 V, 52 A, SON 5x6 mm	SON 5x6mm	CSD16412Q5A	Texas Instruments
Q4	1	2N7002K-T1-E3	MOSFET, Nch, 60 V, 300 mA, 2 Ω	SOT23	2N7002K-T1-E3	Vishay
R1	1	1K	Resistor, Chip, 1/10-W, 5%	0603	RC1608J102CS	Samsung Electromechanics
R2, R15, R16, R18, R19, R20, R22, R23	8	100	Resistor, Chip, 1/16W, 5%	0402	RC1005J101CS	Samsung Electromechanics
R3, R4, R12	3	1k	Resistor, Chip, 1/16W, 5%	0402	RC1005J102CS	Samsung Electromechanics
R5, R6	2	10M	Resistor, Chip, 1/16W,5%	0402	RC1005J106CS	Samsung Electromechanics
R7	1	10K	Resistor, Chip, 1/10-W, 5%	0603	RC1608J103CS	Samsung Electromechanics
R8	1	100k	Resistor, Chip, 1/16W, 5%	0402	RC1005J104CS	Samsung Electromechanics
R9, R10, R13, R17	4	5.1k	Resistor, Chip, 1/16W, 5%	0402	RC1005J512CS	Samsung Electromechanics
R11	1	10	Resistor, Chip, 1/16W, 5%	0402	RC1005J100CS	Samsung Electromechanics
R14	1	4.99	Resistor, Chip, 1/16W, 5%	0402	CRCW04024R99FKED	Vishay Dale
R24	1	0.001 50 ppm	Resistor, Metal Foil, 1 watt, ± 1%	1206	CSNL1206FT1L00	Vishay
RT1	1	10 K	Thermistor, NTC, 3 A	0.095 X 0.150 inch	103AT-2	Semitec
S1	1	EVQ-PLHA15	Switch, Push button, Momentary, 1P1T, 50 mA, 12 V	0.200 x 0.200 inch	EVQ-PLHA15	Panasonic
SPK1, SPK2, SPK3, SPK4, SPK5	5		Gap, 0.010" space	0.020 x 0.020 inch		
TP1, TP3, TP4, TP5, TP7, TP8, TP10, TP12, TP13, TP14	10	Black	Test Point, TH, Miniature, Black	0.100 x 0.100 inch	5001	Keystone
TP2, TP6, TP9	3	Red	Test Point, TH, Miniature, Red	0.100 x 0.100 inch	5000	Keystone

Table 3. Bill of Materials



Designator	Quantity	Value	Description	Package Reference	PartNumber	Manufacturer
U1	1	BQ294502DRVR	Overvoltage Protection Device for 2 to 3 Cell Li-lon Batteries, with 4.35 V OVP, -40 to 85 °C, 6-pin SON (DRV), Green (RoHS & no Sb/Br)	DRV0006A	BQ294502DRVR	Texas Instruments
U2	1	bq78z610DRZ	1-Cell to 2-Series Cell Programmable Battery Manager, DRZ0012A	DRZ0012A	bq78z100DRZ	Texas Instruments
C12	0	1 µF	Capacitor, Ceramic Chip, 16 V, X5R, 10%	0402	CL05A105KO5NNNC	Samsung Electromechanics
C14, C15	0	0.1 µF	Capacitor, Ceramic Chip, 16 V, X7R, 10%	0402	CL05B104KO5NNNC	Samsung Electromechanics
J4	0		Header (friction lock), 100mil, 4x1, R/A, TH	4x1 R/A Header	22-05-3041	Molex
R21	0	330k	Resistor, Chip, 1/16W, 5%	0402	RC1005J334CS	Samsung Electromechanics
TP11	0	Black	Test Point, TH, Miniature, Black	0.100 x 0.100 inch	5001	Keystone

Table 3. Bill of Materials (continued)





Figure 20. Schematic



4.3 Testing Fuse-Blowing Circuit

To prevent the loss of board functionality during the fuse-blowing test, the actual chemical fuse is not provided in the circuit. FET Q1 drives TP1 low if a fuse-blow condition occurs; thus, monitoring TP1 can be used to test this condition.



Revision History

NOTE: Page numbers for previous revisions may differ from page numbers in the current version.

Date	Revision	Notes	
September 2015	*	Initial Release	

IMPORTANT NOTICE

Texas Instruments Incorporated and its subsidiaries (TI) reserve the right to make corrections, enhancements, improvements and other changes to its semiconductor products and services per JESD46, latest issue, and to discontinue any product or service per JESD48, latest issue. Buyers should obtain the latest relevant information before placing orders and should verify that such information is current and complete. All semiconductor products (also referred to herein as "components") are sold subject to TI's terms and conditions of sale supplied at the time of order acknowledgment.

TI warrants performance of its components to the specifications applicable at the time of sale, in accordance with the warranty in TI's terms and conditions of sale of semiconductor products. Testing and other quality control techniques are used to the extent TI deems necessary to support this warranty. Except where mandated by applicable law, testing of all parameters of each component is not necessarily performed.

TI assumes no liability for applications assistance or the design of Buyers' products. Buyers are responsible for their products and applications using TI components. To minimize the risks associated with Buyers' products and applications, Buyers should provide adequate design and operating safeguards.

TI does not warrant or represent that any license, either express or implied, is granted under any patent right, copyright, mask work right, or other intellectual property right relating to any combination, machine, or process in which TI components or services are used. Information published by TI regarding third-party products or services does not constitute a license to use such products or services or a warranty or endorsement thereof. Use of such information may require a license from a third party under the patents or other intellectual property of the third party, or a license from TI under the patents or other intellectual property of TI.

Reproduction of significant portions of TI information in TI data books or data sheets is permissible only if reproduction is without alteration and is accompanied by all associated warranties, conditions, limitations, and notices. TI is not responsible or liable for such altered documentation. Information of third parties may be subject to additional restrictions.

Resale of TI components or services with statements different from or beyond the parameters stated by TI for that component or service voids all express and any implied warranties for the associated TI component or service and is an unfair and deceptive business practice. TI is not responsible or liable for any such statements.

Buyer acknowledges and agrees that it is solely responsible for compliance with all legal, regulatory and safety-related requirements concerning its products, and any use of TI components in its applications, notwithstanding any applications-related information or support that may be provided by TI. Buyer represents and agrees that it has all the necessary expertise to create and implement safeguards which anticipate dangerous consequences of failures, monitor failures and their consequences, lessen the likelihood of failures that might cause harm and take appropriate remedial actions. Buyer will fully indemnify TI and its representatives against any damages arising out of the use of any TI components in safety-critical applications.

In some cases, TI components may be promoted specifically to facilitate safety-related applications. With such components, TI's goal is to help enable customers to design and create their own end-product solutions that meet applicable functional safety standards and requirements. Nonetheless, such components are subject to these terms.

No TI components are authorized for use in FDA Class III (or similar life-critical medical equipment) unless authorized officers of the parties have executed a special agreement specifically governing such use.

Only those TI components which TI has specifically designated as military grade or "enhanced plastic" are designed and intended for use in military/aerospace applications or environments. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that any military or aerospace use of TI components which have *not* been so designated is solely at the Buyer's risk, and that Buyer is solely responsible for compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements in connection with such use.

TI has specifically designated certain components as meeting ISO/TS16949 requirements, mainly for automotive use. In any case of use of non-designated products, TI will not be responsible for any failure to meet ISO/TS16949.

Products		Applications	
Audio	www.ti.com/audio	Automotive and Transportation	www.ti.com/automotive
Amplifiers	amplifier.ti.com	Communications and Telecom	www.ti.com/communications
Data Converters	dataconverter.ti.com	Computers and Peripherals	www.ti.com/computers
DLP® Products	www.dlp.com	Consumer Electronics	www.ti.com/consumer-apps
DSP	dsp.ti.com	Energy and Lighting	www.ti.com/energy
Clocks and Timers	www.ti.com/clocks	Industrial	www.ti.com/industrial
Interface	interface.ti.com	Medical	www.ti.com/medical
Logic	logic.ti.com	Security	www.ti.com/security
Power Mgmt	power.ti.com	Space, Avionics and Defense	www.ti.com/space-avionics-defense
Microcontrollers	microcontroller.ti.com	Video and Imaging	www.ti.com/video
RFID	www.ti-rfid.com		
OMAP Applications Processors	www.ti.com/omap	TI E2E Community	e2e.ti.com
Wireless Connectivity	www.ti.com/wirelessconn	ectivity	

Mailing Address: Texas Instruments, Post Office Box 655303, Dallas, Texas 75265 Copyright © 2015, Texas Instruments Incorporated